FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/6/2020 3:02 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98013-6

CASE NO. 78696-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Indira Rai-Choudhury, Petitioner,

V.

Stephanie Inslee, in her official capacity as personal representative of the Estate of Margaret Rai-Choudhury,

Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Christopher C. Lee, WSBA No. 26516 Attorneys for Indira Rai-Choudhury

Aiken, St. Louis & Siljeg, P.S. 801 Second Avenue, Ste. 1200 Seattle, WA 98104 206-624-2650/fax: 206-623-5764 lee@aiken.com

### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Indira Rai-Choudhury seeks review by the Washington State Supreme Court.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Indira Rai-Choudhury (hereinafter "Indira")<sup>1</sup> seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion filed on October 21, 2019. The Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration on December 6, 2019.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court of Appeals applied the incorrect standard to a motion for summary judgment and determined whether "a rational trier of fact could find that the nonmoving party supported [their] claim with clear, cogent and convincing evidence" instead of "whether the non moving party created a genuine issue of material fact by presenting a *prima facie* case with clear, cogent and convincing evidence". *Tiger Oil Corp. v. Yakima County*, 158 Wn. App. 553, 242 P.3d 936 (2010).
- 2. The Court of Appeals failed to follow precedence by failing to give weight to the testatrix' past known feelings, thoughts and intentions towards her family. *In re Estate of Miller*, 10 Wn.2d 258, 116 P.2d 526 (1941).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> First names are used as a matter of convenience and clarity, no disrespect is intended or should be implied by this informality.

- 3. The Court of Appeals failed to follow precedence by failing to give weight to the fact that the testatrix's gifting and exclusions were based on false beliefs. *In re Estate of Klein*, 28 Wn.2d 456, 183 P.2d 518 (1947).
- 4. The Court of Appeals adopted an incorrect standard, contrary to precedence, to deny the CR 56 (f) request for continuance and denied the continuance for untenable reasons. *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn. App. 499, 504, 784 P.2d 554 (1990); *Tellevik v. 31641 W. Rutherford St.*, 120 Wn.2d 68, 838 P.2d 111 (1992).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Affirmed the Trial Court's Grant of Summary Judgment

The Estate of Margaret Rai-Choudhury filed a motion for summary judgment on Indira's claim that her mother's will was a result of an insane delusion. The trial court granted the motion. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

The Court of Appeals held "Indira does not raise an issue of fact as to whether an insane delusion caused Margaret to disinherit her. And she fails to show that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion in denying her CR 56(f) motion." (Opinion, October 21, 2019, p.1)

The Court of Appeals ignored evidence of Margaret's historic views, feelings and intentions, and also evidence showing that Margaret's gifting and exclusions in her 2015 will were based on false and delusional beliefs.

# B. Margaret Rai-Choudhury Had a Close, Loving and Supportive Relationship With Her Daughter Indira

Margaret was married for 56 years to Prosenjit Rai-Choudhury (hereinafter "Prosenjit"). (CP 731) They had one daughter, Indira. Indira had two sons; one an adult, Khashon, and one still a teenager, Jehan. Indira and her sons had lived in Bellingham, WA where Margaret lived, until 2007 when Indira and her sons moved to Oklahoma.

Margaret died on November 5, 2016 at the age of 83 years old. At the time of her death, she had estranged herself from her family since May 2015. Margaret executed her Last Will and Testament on July 21, 2015. Margaret's estate was worth approximately \$2 million. Apart from a gift of \$10,000 to a friend, Margaret gifted 50 percent of her estate to the University of British Columbia and 50 percent to a trust for the benefit of Khashon. The trust for Khashon stated it was for the benefit of a minor, particularly his education. In July 2015, Khashon was an adult, graduated from college, and was employed as an airline pilot. (CP 737) Margaret, however, disinherited her daughter and did not even name her youngest grandson in her will.

Indira's disinheritance was inconsistent with Margaret's prior will.

Margaret had made a will in 1999 with the firm of Preston, Gates & Ellis (now KL Gates). (CP 169) Margaret had what she called a "Bimbo Trust" in her will.

Prosenjit had been unfaithful in the past and Margaret was worried that if she

died before her husband, her husband would give their money away to the next woman he met. (CP 170) The "Bimbo Trust" was intended to prevent this and to ensure that assets remained for Indira, who was the remainder beneficiary of the "Bimbo Trust". (CP 170, 173-188) Margaret had made a specific plan for the protection of Indira's inheritance from her husband.

Since 2007, when Indira and her sons moved to Oklahoma, Margaret and Indira talked on the phone almost daily. (CP 315-3240) Margaret was proud of her daughter and spoke frequently about her to Jim Dodds and his wife Sandra Fletcher, Margaret's neighbors of ten years. (CP 421-423) Margaret also spoke to them about how much she loved her grandsons, Khashon and Jehan, and wished that she could see them more frequently as any loving grandparent would want. (*Id.*) Until the time of her passing, Margaret continued to possess 27 years of cards from her daughter and grandsons. (CP 742-787)

Debbie Noorish, Margaret's great grand niece, met with Margaret frequently after May 2015. (CP 456) Based on her discussions with Margaret, Ms. Noorish was surprised that Margaret had excluded Jehan from her will. (CP 625-626) Ms. Noorish was at a lose that Margaret would not include her youngest grandson in her estate planning because Margaret loved both her grandsons equally. (CP 629)

Margaret's love and appreciation for her daughter cannot be more clearly stated than in her own words in emails to Indira. Margaret wrote in March 2014,

a year prior to disinheriting her daughter, "I always think about you when I need health advise, I hate to think that where I would be today without it, and that I am very lucky to have you." (CP 325 (bold added)) She concluded the email, "Love you, my lovely, smart and kind daughter! Mom." (Id., bold added) Another email around the same time stated, "Have looked at your birthday card and as usual it brings tears to my eyes. Thanks to the good lord I had a wonderful daughter, and THANKS TO YOU! Love, Mom." (CP 329)

Margaret shared her fond feelings about her daughter with Maryann Hanseth. Ms. Hanseth was a social worker from whom Margaret had received counseling for a year. Margaret relied upon her daughter, who was her primary medical contact. (CP 729) She was proud of and loved Indira. (CP 728) Margaret wished Indira lived closer. (CP 731) Ms. Hanseth's noted,

"She reports she and her husband have a close relationship with their daughter and **she is thankful for her support**." (Id.) (Bold added.)

On May 9, 2015, Margaret left her daughter a voicemail thanking her for a Mother's Day card, telling Indira she loved her and asking her to call her back. (CP 308, 665, 667) Prior to May 2015, Margaret never mentioned a single issue or complaint about her daughter. After May 11, 2015, Margaret would avoid contact with her daughter contrary to their historical relationship.

C. Margaret Started to Experience Insane Delusions in April 2015On April 1, 2015, Margaret fell from a stool and hit her head. (CP 838)

She went to Peacehealth Hospital in Bellingham, Washington. A CAT scan of Margaret's bran revealed "chronic microvascular ischemic changes." (CP 838) Soon after, Margaret experienced delusions on a return trip from Vancouver, B.C. Margaret believed the CIA was following her and her husband, and their daughter Indira. (CP 198-199, 739)

On May 5, 2015, Margaret met with her counselor, Maryann Hanseth. Although Margaret had spoken about her concerns regarding her marriage, she had never stated anything negative against her daughter. However, on May 5, 2015, Margaret described a "weird" call from Indira, who suggested that Margaret's phone was bugged. Margaret said she could hear her youngest grandson Jehan "snickering in the background." (CP 736) She also reported that she had suspicions that her husband was trying to kill her because she has sensed a mild gas leak. (*Id.*)

On May 10, 2015, Margaret suffered a cat bite and was admitted to the hospital. (CP 840-87) Unlike prior hospital admissions, Margaret was distrustful of the nurse and very suspicious of staff. (CP 681, 684) Margaret refused to get her blood drawn for lab work. (CP 842) She demanded that she be disconnected from antibiotics shortly after they were started. (CP 842) Margaret stated that she would like to "talk to Bill Gate's father's law firm" where her will had been prepared (CP 843) A social worker noted that "She also states she has suspicions that her dtr may think she (pt) is crazy and again

relates rambling conversations along these lines." (CP 844) Margaret stated she needed to go to Seattle. (CP 845)

While Margaret was in Seattle, she sought treatment at a medical clinic in Pioneer Square, Seattle, Washington. Due to Margaret's bizarre behavior, a nurse at the clinic phoned Peacehealth Hospital in Bellingham, Washington to inquire about Margaret's mental state stating that Margaret was exhibiting "paranoid and delusional thought process." (CP 740) The nurse also reported that Margaret had called the police because she believed that a bridge had collapsed somewhere and killed her daughter. (*Id.*)

Seattle police called Prosenjit. Although Prosenjit and Indira had no idea where Margaret was, Margaret complained to the police that her husband and daughter were following her. (CP 199) When police later checked on Margaret, she spoke incoherently to the police and drifted from subject to subject. (*Id.*)

When Margaret eventually returned to Bellingham, she saw her regular doctor, Dr. Vanderbilt, on June 25, 2015. After the examination, Dr. Vanderbilt added a diagnosis of "cognitive impairment" to Margaret's "Patient Active Problem List." (CP 742) Margaret refused any further counseling or treatment.

### D. The Reasons Given by Margaret Rai-Choudhury for Her 2015 Estate Planning Were False or Unsupported By Any Evidence

Margaret discussed the reasons for her estate planning in her July 2015 will with: Steve Avery, her estate planning attorney; Gregory Kosanke, her

divorce attorney; and William Tuttle, her broker.

Mr. Kosanke knew Margaret from June 2015 to June 2016, and only met her only a number of times during that year. Margaret told Mr. Kosanke that she wanted to be free of her husband and daughter's emotional and financial abuse. (CP 127) However, Mr. Kosanke testified that Margaret never provided any examples of the emotional and financial abuse caused by Indira.

Mr. Kosanke stated that Margaret felt that her husband would provide for their daughter and did not make any provision in her estate planning for Indira.

(CP 128) This is a significant change from Margaret's concern that Prosenjit would give all their money to some woman he met after her passing. (CP 170)

Mr. Kosanke referred Margaret to Steve Avery for estate planning.

Mr. Avery met even less frequently with Margaret than Mr. Kosanke; only four brief times in the month of July 2019. (CP 67) Substantive discussions only occurred at their first two meetings. (CP 796) Mr. Avery testified that the most specific he could be about Margaret's reason for disinheriting her daughter was that "she said something to the effect that her daughter had caused her a lot of stress, grief, pain during her lifetime. I don't recall her elaborating beyond the general statements." (CP 792)

Mr. Avery had no understanding of why Margaret named one grandson, but did not name her second grandson. (CP 793) Mr. Avery had no idea why Margaret named the University of British Columbia in her will. (CP 792)

William Tuttle worked at Wells Fargo Advisors and knew Margaret since 2011. (CP 132) Mr. Tuttle met with Margaret about 20 to 30 times during their relationship. (CP 558) However, the vast number of meeting occurred during the last year of Margaret's life. Mr. Tuttle met with Margaret "at least once a month, if not more" during the last 18 to 24 months of her life. (CP 132) Accordingly, Mr. Tuttle must have met with Margaret about one time a year prior to 2015.

Mr. Tuttle testified that Margaret's overall reason for disinheriting Indira was lack of trust. (CP 584) Margaret believed that Indira's had a drug addiction that created problems throughout a large period of her life. (CP 545-546) Margaret also complained that Indira was manipulative. (CP 545, 570, 581) Yet Mr. Tuttle could not testify that Margaret had informed him of any incidents, facts or details that would support Indira being untrustworthy, addicted to drugs, or being manipulative. Margaret's statements to Mr. Tuttle were delusions; similar to Margaret telling Mr. Tuttle that Indira had followed her in Seattle. (CP 564) In 2014, Margaret's own words confirmed that she trusted her daughter, sought health advice from her daughter, appreciated her support and loved her very much.

According to Mr. Tuttle Margaret believed her grandson Jehan was a "pothead." (CP 639) However, Indira submitted several declarations that Jeshan was not known to have ever used drugs.

Margaret had told Mr. Tuttle that she wanted to leave money to the University of British Columbia because her brothers had attended the university. (CP 569) However, this was again another delusional thought. Margaret's brothers had never attended U.B.C. or any other college. (CP 619-620) Margaret talked to her great-grandniece, Debbie Norrish, about her estate planning after May 2015. Margaret never mentioned U.B.C. to Ms. Noorish as a beneficiary of her estate. (CP 625) Margaret's only connection with U.B.C. was her brief employment as a librarian in the 1950s. (CP 254) Margaret had never provided any financial support to U.B. C. during her life. (CP 342)

Indira retained Dr. Haq, the inpatient geriatric psychiatrist at the Palo Alto Veterans Affairs Hospital. (CP 880) He is certified by the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology in both general psychiatry and geriatric psychiatry. (CP 879-885.) Dr. Haq prepared a report in which he opined:

"There is converging evidence, from multiple sources, that Ms. Choudhury displayed multiples bizarre delusions starting in early May of 2015, ... Her delusional beliefs were persistent and impacted directly on her testamentary decisions. Therefore, she did not have testamentary capacity on the date in question."

(CP 888)

Dr. Haq concluded:

"In the case of Margaret, her understanding of her relationship with her husband and daughter was deeply skewed by her delusional beliefs. Due to both these reasons, Margaret DID NOT have testamentary capacity when she made her will on July 21, 2015."

(CP 911)

## E. Indira Satisfied The Requirements for A CR 56 Continuance and the Trial Court Denied the Continuance on Untenable Grounds

Indira filed her petition on March 20, 2017. Indira served discovery requests and subpoenas in August 2017. (CP 155.) No party had previously conducted any discovery. (*Id.*) The Estate filed a motion to quash the subpoenas and then a motion for reconsideration when its motion to quash was denied. (*Id.*) The trial court ordered the parties to prepare a protective order with respect to the subpoenaed financial and medical records. (*Id.*) The court did not enter the protective order until January 2018. (*Id.*) Despite the subpoena and order of protection, there continued to be delay in obtaining the subpoenaed records. (*Id.*) Indira was diligent in her pursuit of discovery.

On April 9, 2018, the Estate served and filed a motion for summary judgment. (CP 1-15.) Indira responded to the motion and also requested a CR 56 (f) continuance to complete, *inter alia*, the following discovery:

- 1. Deposition of Jim Dodds. Margaret's neighbor who would have information regarding her relationship to her family. (CP 194.)
- 2. Deposition of Sandra Fletcher. Margaret's neighbor and Mr. Dodd's wife who would also have information regarding Margaret's relationship to her family. (CP 194.)

- 3. Deposition of Prosenjit Rai-Choudhury. Margaret's ex-husband who could testify to Margaret's past estate planning and her relationship with their daughter. (CP 195.)
- 4. Deposition of Maryann Hanseth, LicSW. Provided counseling to both Jit and Margaret at about the time of Margaret's change in behavior. (CP 195.)
- 5. Deposition of Linda Borland. A friend of Margaret with whom she spent several months in 2015. Ms. Borland could testify to Margaret's views of her family. (CP 611.)
- 6. Deposition of John Boren. A friend of Indira, retired law enforcement officer, and ju jitsu instructor for Jehan who could testify to his knowledge regarding the absence of drug use in Jehan's life. (CP 611.)
- 7. Deposition of Ellen Murphy. A friend of Indira and a licensed drug and alcohol counselor. Ms. Murphy can express her personal and professional opinion that Margaret's claim that Indira was on drugs is not founded on any evidence. (CP 612.)
- 8. Deposition of Steve Avery. Mr. Avery was the attorney who prepared the estate documents in question. (CP 195.)
- 9. Obtain further medical records. (CP 194.)

The request for continuance was supported by the declaration of her counsel that set forth a (1) good reason for the delay in obtaining the evidence, (2) identified the evidence that would be established through the discovery, and (3) that the evidence would raise a genuine issue of fact.

The trial court granted Indira's CR 56 (f) motion, but although litigation had been pending for only one year, limited the scope of the discovery to Mr. Avery's deposition and obtaining medical records stating "Anything else other than those two points is going to be of no value to this Court, because it doesn't,

wouldn't – most of this information is not of great value to the Court, because it doesn't shed light on Ms. Rai-Choudhury's condition at the time she was preparing and signing her will." (RP 34:3-9 (bold added).)

No trial date was set.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Applied the Incorrect Standard to a Motion for Summary Judgment and Determined Whether "a Rational Trier of Fact Could Find that the Nonmoving Party Supported Their Claim with Clear, Cogent and Convincing Evidence" Instead of "Whether the Non Moving Party Created a Genuine Issue of Material Fact by Presenting a *Prima Facie* Case with Clear, Cogent and Convincing Evidence"

The Washington State Supreme Court reviews summary judgment orders *de novo*. *Mut. Of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson Constr., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 913, 169 P.3d 1 (2007).

Citing to *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn. App. 16, 22, 189 P.3d 807 (2008), the Court of Appeals erroneously determined whether "a rational trier of fact could find that the nonmoving party supported their claim with clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." (Opinion, p.8.) This would require the nonmoving party to satisfy their burden at trial on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals should have asked whether Indira had established "a genuine issue of material fact by presenting a *prima facie* case with clear, cogent and convincing evidence that would overcome the presumed validity" of the will. *Tiger Oil Corp. v. Yakima County*, 158 Wn. App. 553, 562-563, 242 P.3d 936 (2010)

(bold added). "A *prima facie* showing means evidence of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." *Thomson v. Jane Doe*, 189 Wn. App. 45, fn. 9, 356 P.3d 727 (2015). The existence of substantial evidence presented against the nonmoving party does not militate against the finding of the establishment of a *prima facie* case. *In re Adoption of S.H.*, 169 Wn. App. 85, 104-106, 279 P.3d 474 (2012).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Indira, she created a genuine issue of material fact by presenting a *prima facie* case with clear, cogent and convincing evidence.

- B. Indira Presented A Genuine Issue of Material Fact by Presenting a *Prima Facie* Case with Clear, Cogent and Convincing Evidence
  - 1. <u>Margaret's historically known views, feelings and intentions</u> are relevant and probative of whether Margaret had an insane delusion affecting the disposition of her will.

"In the determination of the question what is unjust or unnatural [in a will], the history of the testator's family is to be considered and the moral equities and obligations appearing therefrom." A will is unnatural when it is contrary to what the testator, from his known views, feelings, and intentions would have been expected to make."

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