FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/13/2020 11:10 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 98013-6

(Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 78696-2-I) (Whatcom County Court Case No. 17-2-00481-9)

INDIRA RAI-CHOUDHURY, Petitioner,

VS.

STEPHANIE INSLEE, Personal Representative of the Estate of Margaret Rai-Choudhury, Respondent.

PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S RESPONSE TO INDIRA RAI-CHOUDHURY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd Heather C. Shepherd Shepherd and Allen 2011 Young Street, Ste 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773

February 13, 2020

B. Procedural History of Appeal

On March 20, 2017, Indira filed her Whatcom County Superior Court Complaint in this matter. On March 24, 2017, Indira filed an Amended Complaint. On May 3, 2018, she filed a second Amended Complaint. CP 413.

On May 18, 2017, Inslee, as PR, moved for partial summary judgment dismissing Indira's causes of action to invalidate the 2015 Will, intentional interference with next of kin's rights under RCW 68.50.160 and tortious interference with a dead body. On June 30, 2017, the Honorable Judge Snyder entered an Order granting Inslee's motion for summary judgment on Indira's causes of action to set aside the will, intentional interference and tortious interference. The June 30, 2017, Partial Summary Judgment Order was not appealed and was not the subject matter of Indira's appeal.

On April 9, 2018, Inslee, as PR, filed and served her Motion for Summary Judgment on Remaining Claims. CP 1. Indira then moved to amend her Complaint a second time. CP 16. On April 20, 2018, Judge Snyder denied Indira's motion to amend the complaint a second time,

except as to Indira's claims of insane delusion and undue influence. CP 151. Indira filed a second Amended Complaint on May 3, 2018. CP 413.

On May 11, 2018, Judge Snyder heard argument on Inslee's second motion for summary judgment on Indira's remaining claims. Indira moved for a continuance to allow additional discovery. Judge Snyder entered an Order allowing additional discovery and continuing the hearing. CP 699. On June 15, 2018, Judge Snyder entered an Order Granting Inslee's Motion for Summary Judgment on Remaining Claim(s). CP 870.

C. Evidence Before the Trial Court

On March 19, 1933, Margaret was born in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. On November 25, 2016, she died in Bellingham, Washington. CP 69. On July 9, 2015, Margaret filed a petition for dissolution of her marriage to Prosenjit in Whatcom County Superior Court under cause number 15-3-00441-7. Margaret's marriage to Prosenjit was dissolved by the Whatcom County Superior Court on April 4, 2016. *Id.* Attorney Gregory Kosanke (Kosanke) represented Margaret in her dissolution. CP 126.

Margaret advised Kosanke she wanted to update her estate plans. Kosanke referred her to Attorney Avery. CP 128. In July of 2015, at the instruction of Margaret, Avery prepared Margaret's 2015 Will. CP 61.

On July 21, 2015, Margaret executed her Will shortly after she had filed her Petition for dissolution of her marriage to Prosenjit.

- 09. At all times relevant to the drafting of Exhibits 1-4, and at the time 2 of signing said documents, Margaret had recently filed for divorce. Her intent, expressed clearly to me, was that her soon to be ex-husband should have no portion of her estate, and should have no powers over her person or property during her lifetime. Those wishes were incorporated into Exhibits 1-4, and expressed therein.
- 10. At all times relevant to the drafting of Exhibits 1-4, and at the time of signing said documents, Margaret's intent, expressed clearly to me, was that her daughter, Indira Rai-Choudhury, should have no portion of her estate, and should have no powers over her person or property during her lifetime. Those wishes were incorporated into Exhibits 1-4, and expressed therein.
- 12. Margaret Rai-Choudhury informed me that she was adamant no family member of hers should have any powers over her Estate. I prepared her executed documents consistent with those wishes."

Dec. of Avery; CP 61, 68.

Margaret's 2015 Will contained the following provisions:

ARTICLE 2 GIFTS

2.1 SPECIFIC BEQUESTS:

I give to LINDA BORLAND of Bellingham, Washington ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00).

2.2 ESTATE RESIDUE: I give, devise and bequeath the rest, remainder and residue of my estate, of whatsoever nature and wheresoever situated to the following:

Fifty percent (50%) shall pass to the University of British Columbia (UBC) to be awarded as scholarships to medical students at UBC who are Canadian citizens, have financial need, and have a desire to help the poor.

Fifty percent (50%) shall pass to the then-trustee of the KHASHON HASELRIG Grandchild's Trust for the benefit of my grandson KHASHON HASELRIG to be distributed pursuant to Article 3 below. If KHASHON HASELRIG does not survive me, his share shall pass to the University of British Columbia to be awarded as scholarships to medical students at UBC who are Canadian citizens, have financial need, and have a desire to help the poor. . . .

5.2 NO CONTEST: If a beneficiary named under this Will or one of my beneficiaries at law shall in any manner contest or attack this Will or any of its provisions, then in such event any share or interest in my estate given or passing to such contestant is hereby revoked and shall be disposed of in the same manner provided herein as if such contestant had predeceased me.

CP 61, Exhibit 1; CP 73; CP 79.

In her dissolution, Margaret was awarded substantial assets. Except for her home, Margaret's assets were invested and managed by an investment advisor, William Tuttle (Tuttle). CP 131. Margaret's instructions, oral and written, to Tuttle were to make UBC the paid on death beneficiary of her investment, non-probate assets. CP 543, 547-48. On her death, Margaret's estate exceeded \$1,700,000.00. Three assets made up a substantial portion of Margaret's estate: her home, valued at more than \$600,000.00, which was subject to probate; and, two investment accounts, which exceeded \$1,000,000.00, which were not subject to probate.

Margaret's niece, Debbie Norrish (Norrish) was close to Margaret. CP 451; CP 960. In 2015, they spoke weekly on the phone and fellowshipped together every two or three weeks. *Id.* She last spoke to Margaret, two days prior to her death. *Id.* At no time in 2015 did Norrish have any worries about Margaret's cognitive function. Margaret shared with Norrish, many times, that she did not want Indira to have control over any money or assets. Margaret advised Norrish that Indira was not to be contacted upon Margaret's death. *Id.* In 2015, Margaret shared with Norrish fond memories of working at UBC. Margaret wanted her ashes spread on the campus of UBC. *Id.*

On May 1, 2018, the deposition of Norrish was taken.. CP 451. At Norrish's deposition, Indira learned the following about her mother: 1) Margaret always had money issues with Indira; 2) Margaret enjoyed her time at UBC; 3) Margaret was not leaving any money to Indira because she did not trust her; and, 4) Margaret, in Norrish's opinion, was of sound mind. CP 459.²

Linda Borland (Borland) exercised with Margaret four or five times a week. CP 960. When not exercising at the pool, they often met socially and travelled together. *Id.* Borland was aware of Margaret's

¹ "Aunt Margaret kept her wits about her until her death. . . . At all times up until her death, Aunt Margaret was able to understand the nature of her assets, and was able to articulated (sic) her estate and end of life wishes." CP 960; CP 452.

² Q At Paragraph 8, you say, "At no time prior to her death did I have any concerns about cognitive impairment or cognitive function. Aunt Margaret kept her wits about her until her death," close quote; do you see that? I mean, did you say that?

A I don't see it, but I do remember it, yes, I do, because I felt that she was -- knew what was going on. She always seemed to. She knew what was going on around her. CP 459.

concerns about her former husband and daughter, Indira. *Id.* Margaret was living with Borland when Margaret executed her Will. Borland believed Margaret, on July 21, 2015, had capacity to sign her Will.

During our friendship, including the time she lived with me, I had no concern for her capacity or cognitive abilities. Up until her death, Margaret was a very intelligent woman, and she did not exhibit any behaviors which caused me concern for her mental status or abilities. . . . Her choice to leave Indira nothing is also consistent with my conversations with her. She made it known to me on several occasions that she did not want Indira, nor her second grandson, to inherit any of her money.

Dec. of Linda Borland; CP 964.

Since 2011, Margaret was a client of investment advisor Tuttle. She was one of his first clients at Wells Fargo Advisors. CP 131-32. Over a period of years, they met often. *Id.* The last year of Margaret's life, Tuttle met with her at least monthly. *Id.* At all times, Tuttle found Margaret to be a sharp, independent woman, who studied the market, enjoyed discussing her investments and demonstrated an understanding of her investments. *Id.*

Prior to Margaret's dissolution, Tuttle was advised by Margaret to keep her investments separate from her husband, during the marriage, and away from Indira. *Id.* Margaret provided Tuttle with substantial reasons for not wanting anything to go to Indira. *Id.* At all times, Tuttle believed Margaret understood her finances, knew the nature and extent of her

investments and property, and acknowledged her difficult relationship with Indira. *Id*.

Margaret told Tuttle that Indira was not trustworthy, had addiction issues, and was vindictive. CP 545. Margaret told Tuttle that Indira was deceitful, manipulative and a liar. CP 552. At no time, including in 2015, was Tuttle concerned Margaret was insane, delusional or unduly influenced by anyone, including Inslee, attorney Avery or attorney Kosanke. *Id.* at 555. At all times when meeting with or talking to Tuttle, including in 2015, Margaret appeared and talked rationally and appropriately. *Id.* at 556.

On June 30, 2015, Kosanke first met Margaret. CP 126. Kosanke represented Margaret in her divorce and sent her to Avery for her estate planning. CP 128-29. Margaret told Kosanke her husband had transferred hundreds of thousands of dollars to Indira, without Margaret's permission. *Id.* Margaret advised Kosanke that she was not going to make any provision for Indira in her estate planning. *Id.* Any claim or allegation that Margaret was not of sound mind or delusional during her dissolution was "distinctly contradictory" to Kosanke's discussions and interactions with Margaret. *Id.* Kosanke believed, during his representation of Margaret, Margaret completely understood and partook in the difficult legal and

economic choices regarding the division of her substantial assets and liabilities:

All I know is that Margaret expressed that her daughter was cruel to her, and I did not go into details. I did receive an email from her daughter that was addressed to me and not to Margaret. . . . It was abusive. Quite frankly, Chris, it was the worst email that I have received from a child to a parent or an attorney for a parent that I have ever received. . . I was stunned when I received it. . . .

When you say 'cruelty,' I just want to say that Margaret felt that her daughter -- how do you say this kindly? I don't know if I can say it kindly in her words. I didn't say it. I'm trying to repeat it, and I feel less than -- less than confident to repeat her words after her death.

But I know that she expressed a sadness about the relationship between her and her daughter. And to try to put words in Margaret's mouth after her death, I don't feel comfortable doing that. But Margaret was sad with the relationship between her and her daughter."

CP 126. CP 482, CP 485-490. Dep. of Kosanke.

Attorney Avery prepared Margaret's 2015 Will. He prepared it consistent with Margaret's wishes, which she last expressed to Avery on July 21, 2015, the day she executed the Will. CP 62. The Will was witnessed by Sophusson and Dykstra. Both declared under penalty of perjury that Margaret appeared to be of sound mind and under no duress or undue influence. CP 81. The other three documents were notarized by Avery, who stated under oath that Margaret's signature was her free and voluntary act. The other witnesses again declared that Margaret had the

appropriate capacity and was not acting under any duress or undue influence. CP 95; 107-108; CP 113-115.

Avery had no doubt Margaret had the mental and testamentary capacity to execute her 2015 Will. *Id.* Avery believed when he met with Margaret she was able to and did express her clear wishes regarding her estate, and that Margaret's mind "was quite sound."

Q So let's see if we can just narrow this down to what this issue seems to be about. At the four times you met with Margaret Rai-Choudhury, did she say or do anything that would lead you to believe she lacked mental capacity?

A No.

Q The four times you met with her, two times to execute a Will, did she say or do anything that led you to believe she was unduly influenced by the University of British Columbia?

A No. . . .

Q During the four times you met with Margaret Rai-Choudhury, did she say or do anything that would lead you to believe she was under some type of insane delusion about who she was and who loved and who she wanted to leave her money to?

A No.

Q All right. During the four times you met with her, did she say or do anything that led you to believe that she lacked capacity to instruct you as to what to do with her assets that would be probated after her death?

A No. . . .

Q And all the documents you reviewed, were those consistent with your client Margaret Rai-Choudhury's wishes and instructions?

A Yes.

Q As we sit here today, is there any doubt in your mind that she had the capacity to give you those wishes and instructions?

A No, there's no doubt.

CP 853; 857-859.

Indira seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision based on the incorrect assumption that Division 1 applied the wrong standard, and that the trial court denied a continuance. These arguments are inconsistent with the facts in this case. The trial court granted a continuance, and after a continuance was granted to allow Indira additional time, Indira still failed to present an issue of material fact which would preclude summary judgment. Consistent with the facts in this case, and the applicable law, Division 1 stated:

When Indira first requested the continuance in May 2018, the court granted it for her to obtain medical records and depose Margaret's estate attorney. It, however, did not permit her to depose Margaret's neighbors, her counselor, or two people prepared to state that Indira and Jehan were not drug users. The court disallowed this discovery because it believed that this additional evidence would not "shed light on [Margaret's] condition at the time she was preparing and signing her will."

Indira claims the additional discovery would show that the neighbor believed Margaret disinheriting Indira was contrary to Margaret's feelings, that Indira was not a drug user, and would provide information on Margaret's relationship with Indira before, during, and after May 2015. The court believed that the evidence would not have sufficient value for establishing an insane delusion or showing a link between that delusion and Margaret's disposition of her property. Given that the evidence would not shed light on Margaret's medical state or her beliefs regarding her will at the time she executed it, the court's determination was reasonable. Accordingly, the trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion by denying Indira's motion for a continuance.

Rai-Choudhury v. Inslee, 10 Wn.App.2d 1048, 6, Not Reported (Div, 1, 2019).

Indira continues to argue her mother suffered an insane delusion when she disinherited her. However, there is no issue of material fact which precluded summary judgment as to Margaret's capacity at the time she executed her Last Will and Testament.

III - LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard to Accept Petition for Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

[T]he petitioner must persuade [the Supreme Court] that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court.

In re Coats, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

B. The Court of Appeals Applied the Correct Standard.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals analyzed the trial court's decision de novo, under the correct summary judgment standard. Indira relies upon *Tiger Oil Corp. v. Yakima County*, 158 Wn.App. 553, 242 P.3d

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